## Georgia State University

# ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University

**Geosciences Theses** 

**Department of Geosciences** 

Spring 12-14-2022

# Racial Residential Segregation and COVID-19 Mortality

Suresh Nath Neupane Georgia State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.gsu.edu/geosciences\_theses

## **Recommended Citation**

Neupane, Suresh Nath, "Racial Residential Segregation and COVID-19 Mortality." Thesis, Georgia State University, 2022. https://scholarworks.gsu.edu/geosciences\_theses/170

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Department of Geosciences at ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University. It has been accepted for inclusion in Geosciences Theses by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University. For more information, please contact scholarworks@gsu.edu.

Racial Residential Segregation and COVID-19 Mortality

by

Suresh Nath Neupane

Under the Direction of Katherine Hankins, PhD

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

Master of Science

in the College of Arts and Sciences

Georgia State University

2022

## ABSTRACT

Studies have shown that the social and physical environments are strong predictors of the health of the urban population. This study investigates if racial residential segregation has any impact on the poor health outcome of residents in light of the COVID-19 pandemic. This is a cross-sectional study with 8, 668, 744 observations at the individual level. The hierarchical logistic regression conducted to investigate the association between race and residential segregation with COVID-19 mortality showed that a one unit increase in segregation is associated with a 1 % increase in mortality. Furthermore, people from Black and Asian ethnic communities were more likely than Whites to die from COVID-19, but Hispanics were less likely to die. This study has limitations such as modifiable aerial unit problem, as county-level segregation indices were used for the analysis.

INDEX WORDS: Race, Residential segregation, COVID-19

Copyright by Suresh Nath Neupane 2022 Racial Residential Segregation and COVID-19 Mortality

by

Suresh Nath Neupane

Committee Chair: Katherine Hankins

Committee: Erin Ruel

Chetan Tiwari

Electronic Version Approved:

Office of Graduate Services

College of Arts and Sciences

Georgia State University

December 2022

## DEDICATION

I dedicate this thesis work to my mother Bhagawati Neupane and my father Kashinath Neupane.

## **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

I take this opportunity to express sincere gratitude to my Chair Dr. Katherine Hankins, and committee members Dr. Erin Ruel, and Dr. Chetan Tiwari for their valuable support in the thesis process. The meticulous reviews and feedback that I received on the content have not only taken this work to a new level but also personally helped me understand research a lot more. I would also like to thank Dr. Ruiyan Luo for her valuable feedback. Lastly, I would like to thank my wife Rukumani Rimal for her encouragement every step of the way.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

| A | CKN   | NOWLEDGEMENTS V                            |
|---|-------|--|
| L | IST ( | OF TABLESVIII                              |
| L | IST ( | OF FIGURESIX                               |
| 1 |       | INTRODUCTION1                              |
| 2 |       | LITERATURE REVIEW                          |
|   | 2.1   | Roles of Underlying Health Conditions5     |
|   | 2.2   | Racial Residential Segregation7            |
|   | 2.3   | Age and Other Factors Driving infections11 |
| 3 |       | METHODOLOGY 13                             |
|   | 3.1   | Data13                                     |
|   | 3.2   | Constructs 15                              |
|   | 3.3   | Residential Segregation16                  |
|   | 3.4   | Control Variables17                        |
| 4 |       | ANALYSIS 19                                |
|   | 4.1   | Model19                                    |
| 5 |       | RESULTS                                    |
| 6 |       | DISCUSSION                                 |
| 7 |       | CONCLUSION                                 |
|   | 7.1   | Threats to Validity and Reliability        |

| 7.2   | Limitations and Significance of the Study | 34 |
|-------|---|----|
| 7.3   | Future Research                           | 36 |
| REFER | ENCES                                     | 37 |

# LIST OF TABLES

| Table 1Descriptive Statistics for Individual-Level and County-Level Variables |                              |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|---|------------------------------|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Bookmark not defined.   |                              |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Table 2 Correlation Matrix of the Predictors                                  | Error! Bookmark not defined. |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Table 3 Analysis of Variance Comparison Between Models                        | Error! Bookmark not defined. |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Table 4 Multicollinearity Diagnostics Table                                   | Error! Bookmark not defined. |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Table 5 The Hierarchical Logistic Regression Models                           | Error! Bookmark not defined. |  |  |  |  |  |  |

# LIST OF FIGURES

| Figure 1 National Center for Health Statistics 2013 Urban-Rura | l Classification Scheme for     |
|--|---------------------------------|
| Counties. Non-core counties were removed from the stu-         | dy. (National Center for Health |
| Statistics)  |                                 |
| Figure 2 The Predictors and COVID-19 death odds ratio          | Error! Bookmark not defined.    |

### **1 INTRODUCTION**

The coronavirus disease (COVID-19), which became a global pandemic in early March 2020, has shaken the economic, political, and social orders across the world. Public health agencies first detected 14 of the COVID-19 cases in the United States from January 21 through February 23, 2020, and all cases were related to travel outside the country (CDC, 2020). In nearly two years, the infection and death rates have skyrocketed, with over 865,310 deaths and growing, and more than 70 million confirmed cases in the United States as of January 22, 2022 (Johns Hopkins University, 2022).

Initial studies show counties with a significant Black population have higher COVID-19 infection and death rates, suggesting the disproportionate impact of the disease on racial minorities (Millett et al., 2020; McLaren, 2020; Tai et al., 2021). This disproportionate impact should be unsurprising, as historically, studies have shown that minority populations bear the greatest burden of the impact of a range of diseases (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2013; Mainous et al., 2007). In fact, scholars have documented that socioeconomic status impacts an individual's risk of contracting diseases (often termed as differential exposure), and also what consequences they face as a result of diseases (termed as differential vulnerability) (Diderichsen et al., 2019). Health inequalities measured using various health outcomes, such as infant mortality, cancer, and diabetes associated with the differential vulnerability and differential exposures to diseases, reflect how social determinants of health have contributed to existing health disparities among minorities (Holmes et al., 2020; Burstrom and Tao, 2020). Spatial settings, such as geographically defined places of residence, are also critical to examine, as they influence one's life chances (Massey and Denton, 1993). For example, Subramanian et al. (2020) show an association between racial disparities in self-rated health and the geographic

1

variation in racial segregation, especially in metropolitan areas across the United States. The study found that African Americans were 1.5 times more likely to report poor health conditions than Whites (Subramanian et al., 2005). Since people from minority communities face a higher risk of having one or more chronic illnesses than that of White Americans, it is crucial to examine if the structural disparities, such as residential segregation, are making people of color more vulnerable to COVID-19 mortality (Egede & Walker, 2020). Yancy (2020) argues that although conditions such as hypertension, diabetes, obesity, and cardiovascular diseases prevalent among Black populations may have served as factors affecting COVID-19 infections, factors such as the geographic location of residences, housing density, crime rates, and access to healthy foods, among other structural conditions matter to predict the spread of COVID-19 (Yancy, 2020; CDC, 2020).

The socio-economic conditions in which people live and the social structures, such as policies and health care access, that shape the outcomes help predict the risk factors associated with COVID-19 (Thakur et al., 2020). Ecological studies across cities in the United States have shown associations between segregation and overall poor health outcomes in general (Cooper, 2001; Krivo et al., 2009; Niemesh & Shester, 2020; Hayanga et al., 2013; Hart et al., 1998; Louis-Jean et al., 2020; Kimm et al., 1996; Kramer and Hogue, 2009). Massey and Denton (1993) argue that despite segregation's important role in creating socioeconomic inequalities among communities, conventional theories have ignored segregation as a predictive factor to such disparities. As such, this study will add to the literature by examining how racial residential segregation is linked to COVID-19 mortality. This study shows if existing structural disparities as manifested through racial residential segregation contribute to the racialized inequities of health with regard to COVID-19.

### **2** LITERATURE REVIEW

Inequity in health can be defined as disparities in health that are systematically associated with social advantages or disadvantages among different socioeconomic groups (Braveman & Gruskin, 2003; Whitehead & Dahlgren, 2006). Various physical environments, structural factors, as well as socioeconomic status, impact racial minorities for their poor overall health outcomes compared to the White population (See Geron et al., 2022; Javed et al., 2022; Yamoah et al., 2022). Race has thus been used predominantly as a predictor in a majority of public health research over the past few decades, Dressler et al., (2005). Reducing the existing health disparities requires addressing such structural inequities that are also tied to the socioeconomic status of individuals, (Zavala et al., 2021; Islami et al., 2022).

In their systemic review of cancer health disparities, Zavala et al., (2021) show racialethnic minorities bearing disproportionate impacts of various forms of cancers in the United States. For instance, the study shows that Black men have the highest lung cancer incidence rate of 71.2 per 100,000 people, compared to rates ranging from 35.1 to 65.3 among other racial/ethnic groups. In terms of overall cancer deaths, Black males and Black females have 19% and 12% higher rates respectively as compared to White counterparts (Islami et al., 2022).

Inequities in health are not only shaped by conditions integral to everyday human life activities, such as work, that impact a range of health and quality of life risks, but also by individuals' inability to attain full health due to disadvantageous social positions or socially determined influences, such as wealth and educational attainment disparities (Marmot, 2005; Whitehead & Dahlgren, 2006; Braveman et al., 2011; Braveman, 2006). Thus, socioeconomic status (SES), associated with social determinants, shapes the health outcome of individuals (Rollston & Galea, 2020).

3

Health disparities make socially and economically underprivileged groups of populations such as racial or ethnic minorities more vulnerable to poor health outcomes (Braveman & Gruskin, 2003; Nelson, 2002). In the United States, people from minority populations, including Black, Hispanics/Latinos, American Indians, and Alaska Natives, and Asian Americans, Native Hawaiians, and other Pacific Islanders, face remarkable disparities in the burden of illness and mortality compared to that of the White population (NIH, National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute 2014). And COVID-19 has been no exception.

COVID-19 made disproportionate impacts on racial minorities on several fronts. Compared to Whites, Black patients with COVID-19 experienced 1.4 times the risk of hospitalization, and 1.36 times the risk of an increased likelihood of dying of the COVID-19 infections than Whites (Poulson et al., 2021; Mackey et al., 2021). Ethnicity is an important predictor of COVID-19 infections, with higher rates of infections observed among Black and Hispanic populations, as well as in communities with higher densities of minority populations (Escobar et al., 2021; Mackey et al., 2021; Yang et al., 2020, Wiemers et al., 2020). Azar et al., (2020) show that the Black population with confirmed COVID-19 cases are 2.7 times more likely to be admitted to the hospital as compared to non-Hispanic Whites after various sociodemographic and clinical factors were controlled. Besides the higher number of hospitalizations, the Black population experienced more severe illnesses caused by COVID-19 than that experienced by other population groups (Azar et al., 2020; Poulson et al., 2021). This finding is consistent with the Selden and Berdahl (2020) study, which shows Black adults in every age group are more likely than White adults to experience health risks associated with COVID-19 illness. The mortality rates are also higher among essential workers<sup>1</sup> from minority communities than essential workers who are White (Rogers, et al., 2020; Chen et al., 2021).

The minority population is less privileged compared to that of Whites in terms of practicing preventive measures such as social distancing, which is considered the most effective strategy to lower the spread of COVID-19. In addition, studies have confirmed that some minority populations do not get or fully understand the public service messaging due to a lack of language proficiency (Mein, 2020; Milne & Xie, 2020; Thakur et al., 2020). Studies show social distancing interventions, as well as stay-at-home orders, were effective measures to slow the spread of COVID-19 (Delen et al., 2020; Abouk & Heydari, 2021).

In addition, due to the complex nature of the disease to explain to the general public, messaging to minority communities with low socioeconomic status and limited language skills became problematic (Thakur et al., 2020; Karaye and Horney, 2020). In addition to the residential segregation, and SES, other individual factors such as underlying biological conditions that are linked to the structural inequalities make the minority population vulnerable to growing COVID-19 infections.

### 2.1 Roles of Underlying Health Conditions

Higher prevalence of underlying conditions for COVID-19 such as diabetes and obesity among the hospitalized Black patients indicate disproportionate impacts of the disease on racial minorities (Krishnamoorthy et al., 2021; Clark et al., 2020). Improving basic social determinants of health, such as low SES, poor housing, overcrowding, poverty, limited health knowledge, access to quality and affordable health care, and proper sanitation and infrastructure development

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The essential services belong to critical sectors such as healthcare, food, and agriculture, and transportation among others, whose operations and services are essential to continue despite the COVID-19 pandemic

pertaining to public health is considered crucial in mitigating challenges of underlying health conditions (Alcendor, 2020; Abrams & Szefler, 2020; Duarte et al., 2021).

Consistent with other studies in the past that show how the Black population is vulnerable to comorbidities, such as hypertension and diabetes compared to that of the White population, a clinical research study recently demonstrated that the Black population is more likely to experience adverse lung problems due to COVID-19 infections (Joseph et al., 2020; Kopel et al., 2020; CDC, 2019). Likewise, Azar et al., (2020) found that advanced age and underlying health conditions of individuals were likely to increase the risk of COVID-19 illness. There was a larger increase in the risk of Black mortality due to COVID-19 infection than that of Whites and Asians (Golestaneh et al., 2020; Poulson et al., 2021; Bryan et al., 2021; Rushovich et al., 2021). The increased mortality risk in COVID-19 cases has been driven by the pre-existing health conditions that are often linked with other social determinants of health, which makes people of color susceptible to poor health outcomes (Williamson et al., 2020; Anderson-Carpenter & Neal, 2022).

The longstanding health disparities such as diabetes, hypertension, chronic obstructive disease, and pulmonary disease that are significantly prevalent among minorities put them at risk for clinically severe COVID-19 (Alcendor, 2020). The compromised immune system is driven by the ever-lasting structural poverty and food insecurity among Blacks, compared to Whites (Holmes et al., 2020). Lower socioeconomic status (SES) leads the minority population to reduced access to health care, which results in multiple comorbidities, and poor diets, all combined factors weaken one's immune system, thus making them vulnerable to COVID-19 (Kopel et al., 2020). Since underlying health conditions and COVID-19 mortality are strongly associated, reducing racial health disparities, thus necessitates targeting improvements in

socioeconomic conditions, not just at an individual but at the geographic level such as areas of racial residential segregation (Williams & Collins, 2001).

### 2.2 Racial Residential Segregation

Racial and socioeconomic disparities shape one's access to health care and facilities that impact individual health conditions. The communities that have been structurally discriminated against or underprivileged bear the extra burden of COVID-19. The persistence of residential segregation in U.S. cities despite legislative progress made shows that it is crucial to understand its impact on the minority population, which has been bearing the disproportionate burden of not just economic marginalization but also poor health outcomes.

Racial residential segregation has long characterized urbanization patterns in the United States (Meyer, 2000). In the late nineteenth and early twentieth century, various migrations of Black Americans alongside discriminatory practices rooted in white supremacy shaped the residential distribution of races, thus contributing to growing ethnic segregation across cities in the United States (Meyer, 2000; Massey, 2009). The purposeful action of spatially, socially, and economically marginalizing the Black population forced Black residents to migrate to city cores, thus creating conditions for potential Black ghettoization during much of the twentieth century (Massey, 2015). Decades of overt discrimination practices, enforced through social or economic policies that favored middle-class Whites, have continued to make race a dominant feature for residential segregation of communities across the United States, (Jargowsky, 2020; Massey & Denton, 1993). The prevalence of exclusionary tactics such as denying full access to housing markets through discriminatory practices used by landlords and mortgage lenders, especially against the Black population, has contributed to the continued racial segregation of the urban population (Maly, 2011; Jargowsky et al., 2014; Massey & Denton, 1993). For instance,

Rothstein (2015) argues how discriminatory government policies such as racially explicit zoning that contributed to the production of the urban ghetto, restrictive covenants, which excluded the Black population from White areas, and segregated public housing projects, among others, implemented in the late 20<sup>th</sup> century, led to the persistence of racial segregation in St. Louis, as in many other cities.

Racial segregation rose slightly in metro areas across the United States during the early period of the 1970s, with the Black population highly likely to be in segregated neighborhoods than any other minority group such as Hispanics and Asians (Massey, 2001). Glaeser & Vigdor (2012) show the metro areas began to see a decline in segregation since the 1970s and by 2010 it was at the lowest level in nearly a century. For instance, the isolation indices in metropolitan areas such as Chicago, Cleveland, Detroit, Gary, New York, and Newark were 80 or more in 1990, suggesting that most Black people lived in communities that were over 80 percent Black (Massey, 2001). A study comparing the 50 largest cities, which included the top Metropolitan Statistical Areas by population in 1950 and 2018, shows that metros in the United States have changed from 90% White in 1950 to 60% White in 2018, suggesting that rapidly changing racial composition further helping produce segregated areas (Tracy Hadden Loh et al., 2020).

Residential segregation is associated with a larger system of inequality that has impacted minorities, who have been affected by a slow decrease in health and SES gaps, despite the passage of the civil rights legislation and Fair Housing Act of 1968, (Krysan & Crowder, 2017; Kramer and Hogue, 2009). Segregation is a cause of racial differences in socioeconomic status in that segregation determines access to education and employment opportunities; making residential segregation a primary cause of racial health disparities (Williams & Collins, 2001). Racial segregation limits access to opportunities, especially for people from minority

communities, to remain healthy (Schulz et al., 2002). Besides impeding minorities from accessing education, and job opportunities, racial segregation also shapes conditions such as exposure to poverty and poor housing, which adversely affect individual health, thus confining minorities to disadvantaged places in urban spaces (Williams & Collins, 2001; Massey & Denton, 1993).

## 2.3 Socioeconomic Status and Income Inequality

Inequalities in health begin early in life as one is exposed to such unfair conditions that are perpetuated through institutional policies that can be seen prevalent in discrimination in employment, education, and other economic opportunities (Fiscella, and Williams, 2004). The two intertwined concepts—*health inequalities*, referring to disparities or differences in health outcomes among groups such as race, and gender; and *health inequities*, which refers to structural inequalities stemming from prevalent injustice—shape the population health (Kawachi et al., 2002). Such inequalities and inequities are linked to SES and race that are used as crucial measures in predicting population health outcomes (Fiscella and Williams, 2004). While income is an important variable used to examine the association with individuals as well as area-level health, an ecological variable, income inequality, has been used as a measure to probe the impact on population health (Pickett & Wilkinson, 2015).

The fundamental reason for associating individuals' socioeconomic status (SES) with causes of disease is because of the former's role in building capability to access resources that can either be used to avoid potential risk factors or control the consequences of diseases (Link and Phelan, 1995). The level of economic inequality results in the production of poverty and thus undermines the social structures that support health (Raphael, 2000). A research study on health services and social and economic characteristics of particular urban spaces help understand the particular cause of health problems and the prevalence of health inequalities and inequities among various race and ethnicity (Illsley, 1990; Pickett & Wilkinson, 2015; Williams & Collins, 2001).

The social class or SES is used to measure the individual health of such groups, thus linking individual characteristics to larger groups to examine the advantages or disadvantages of the social characteristics, (Honjo, 2004, also see Deaton & Lubotsky, 2003). The association between SES, often measured by income and poverty level among other determinants, and mortality rates have been used not only at the individual levels but also while measuring the geographic level such as counties or census tracts (Adler et al., 1993; McCord and Freeman, 1990; Deaton & Lubotsky, 2003).

As studies show mixed effects of areas income inequality on various outcomes of population health, it is crucial not to ignore income inequality as a predictor while considering potential confounding effects (See Matthew & Brodersen, 2018; Lynch et al., 2004; Fiscella & Franks, 1997; Lochner et al., 2001; Lobmayer and Wilkinson, 2002). This study uses income inequality as an independent variable to help explain the relationship between racial segregation and COVID-19 death among various racial-ethnic groups. The study measures the ratio between the median household income 80<sup>th</sup> percentile to that of the 20<sup>th</sup> percentile in a county as an index for income inequality. For instance, the 80th percentile is the level where 20% of the households have higher incomes, while the 20<sup>th</sup> percentile represents the 20% of the population. Higher the index values, the greater the gap between individuals living on the top and bottom end of the group. The data was based on the American Community Survey (ACS) 2015-2019 estimate. The positively skewed income inequality variable was log10-transformed.

## 2.4 Age and Other Factors Driving infections

Other contributing factors that this study will control for are age and population density. A majority of research supports that increased COVID-19 mortality risks are found among elderly population groups over 70 years of age (Li et al., 2020). While more data were available later during the pandemic, the initial data from San Francisco, California, in mid-April 2020 showed the young Latinx population was disproportionately impacted by COVID-19, with 42% of the cases among individuals below 40 years of age and that 24 % of them were Hispanic or Latinx (Haynes and Cooper, 2020). Although studies show high mortality rates among the population of 65 or older age group, there are patterns of people of color dying at younger ages (Bassett et al., 2020). Having age as a control variable in the study would provide an unbiased examination of segregation on COVID-19 mortality. Age-related and place-based factors also contribute to placing older Black adults at risk for the infection and potential deaths caused by COVID-19 (Chatters et al., 2020).

Yehia et al., (2020) argue that in the absence of implementation of any social distancing measures, people's living conditions such as densely populated areas, multigeneration households, underlying health conditions, and health issues that emerged due to lack of access to care, may also explain the disproportionate impacts of COVID-19 on individuals (Yehia et al., 2020). Unlike underlying health conditions and risk factors that health officials can clearly identify, predictors associated with economic, structural, and social disparities such as limited access to healthy foods, housing density, and high crime rates, among others need more exploration (Yancy, 2020; Haynes and Cooper, 2020; Watson et al., 2020).

This paper examines whether there is any disparity in the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on racial groups in segregated areas. The research question is *What is the effect of* 

*racial residential segregation on the racial disparities in mortality caused by Covid-19?* In order to examine the relationship between racial residential segregation and COVID-19 mortality, this paper proposes a hypothesis concerning the effects of structural inequalities on COVID-19 infections and death rates.

## Hypothesis:

- 1. Black individuals are more likely to die of COVID-19 than are Whites and other races.
- 2. Racial residential segregation will explain and therefore attenuate the covid 19 mortality gap between Whites and Blacks.
- 3. Black individuals living in segregated counties are more likely to die of COVID-19 than Blacks living in less segregated counties.

#### **3 METHODOLOGY**

This is a cross-sectional study intended to measure if racial residential segregation is a predictor of mortality caused by COVID-19. The objective of this study is to examine the association of COVID-19 death as the outcome variable, and racial residential segregation, gender, age, population density, and income inequality as predictors.

## 3.1 Data

Individual-level data with demographic variables, such as race, gender, age, and COVID-19 death, were used for this study. The dataset was provided by the Center for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC)'s Case Surveillance Task Force and Surveillance Review and Response Group (SRRG). The restricted data were made available for limited use upon completion of the registration information and data use restrictions agreement (RIDURA). This SRRG public use dataset has variables including demographics, COVID-19, underlying conditions, outcomes such as death caused by COVID-19, and county and state of all COVID-19 cases.

The dataset starts from January 1, 2020, as the earliest date of the COVID-19 case reported, until April 15, 2021. The dataset may include some vaccinated individuals as the United States Food and Drug Administration (FDA) issued the first emergency use authorization for use of the Pfizer-BioNTech COVID-19 vaccine on December 11, 2020. While teachers, school staff, and childcare workers were deemed eligible for vaccines by early March 2021, by mid-April the eligibility was expanded to the general public (U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, 2020). The dataset was released on April 30, 2021. Access to the data was given via CDC's GitHub portal for a limited period of time.

In order to avoid large central, fringe, and medium metropolitans with high-level of segregation masking over non-core regions, rural areas were removed from the dataset. A total of

1,341 nonmetropolitan areas with their respective FIPS code that are also known as non-core with a population less than 10,000, according to the National Center for Health Statistics classification scheme of 2013, were removed from the dataset (National Center for Health Statistics, 2019). Figure 1 shows the non-core rural areas classified as #6 on the NCHS dataset The counties included in the analysis were large central metro, large fringe, medium metro, and small metro. The CDC dataset with 23,723,384 observations was used for the study. First, a total of 1, 271, 137 observations that belong to non-core rural areas, were removed from the original dataset. When rural counties were removed, 8.5% (a total of 663,946 observations) of the White population and 4.3% (a total of 72,652 observations) of Black population were removed from the original dataset. Similarly, 1.2% of Hispanics and 0.12% of Asians belonging to rural counties were removed from the sample. In terms of non-responses, Race variable had the most missing values. A total of 7,857,055 such missing observations were removed from the dataset. Omitting the missing values, White and Black race had a 49% reduction in the sample size each, followed by Asians at 37% and Hispanic at 36%, compared to the original dataset. After removing overall missing values, the final sample size was reduced to 8, 668, 744 for the analysis.

In the original CDC dataset, responses that had been left unanswered (blank) were reclassified to an "Unknown" value and such values were treated as "missing" and removed while conducting the final analysis. For instance, in the question "Did the patient die as a result of this illness?," with responses "Yes," "No," or "Unknown," the "Unknown" values were removed. Similarly, "Unknown" response values in other variables were also treated as missing values and removed.



Figure 1 National Center for Health Statistics 2013 Urban-Rural Classification Scheme for Counties. Non-core counties were removed from the study. (National Center for Health Statistics)

## 3.2 Constructs

To measure the impact of COVID-19 on individuals living in racially-segregated areas, this study used death caused by COVID-19 as a response variable while treating variables such as residential segregation, race and income inequality as predictors, controlling for age and population density across counties in the United States.

Dependent Variable: This study used death among confirmed COVID-19 cases as a dependent variable. The responses on the individual-level dataset were coded with Yes =1 and No=0 to represent COVID-19 infected individuals who died or survived respectively for all 8, 668, 744 observations. Of the total observations, 346,982 were entered as "Yes."

## 3.3 Residential Segregation

Racial residential segregation is the independent variable that this study used to examine if segregation can explain the death caused by COVID-19 infections. The county-level segregation index was used from the publicly available Robert Wood Johnson Foundation's (RWJF) web portal (Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, 2021). The residential segregation between the two groups--non-White and White races in the study is measured using the dissimilarity index, which shows greater segregation between the two groups with higher values. The county-level indices from RWJF's dataset were assigned to the respective individual-level observations by the county-FIPS (Federal Information Processing System) codes information. Even though the segregation index was on a county-level, it was assigned to individual-level observations.

The dissimilarity index (D) is interpreted as the proportion of one particular race that would have to change their tract of residence to make an equal distribution of the different racial groups (Duncan & Duncan, 1955). This index measures if Whites or Blacks or Others, which included American Indian or Alaska Native, Asian, and Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander--is distributed across census tracts in the county in a similar fashion. The D is measured at a county level and is based on the distribution of non-Whites across the counties as units of analysis. The value of D ranges from 0, a complete integration to 100, complete segregation. For instance, a score of 0 indicates both groups—Whites and non-Whites--are completely integrated across all census tracts in the county, whereas higher scores indicate a higher level of segregation among census tracts within that county. The segregation index variable was mean-centered before the analysis in order to improve the interpretation of model parameters. The dissimilarity index below computes the proportion of minorities that need to move to achieve an even distribution:

$$D = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left| \frac{P_{1i}}{P_1} - \frac{P_{2i}}{P_2} \right|$$

 $P_1 \& P_2$ : county-wide population Group 1 or Group 2

 $P_{1i}$  &  $P_{2i}$ : population of Group 1 or Group 2 in the neighborhood I out of n neighborhoods

Since focusing on cities rather than counties would limit the analysis within the city boundaries, county-level segregation was chosen to appropriately include rural areas. The dissimilarity index was calculated to compare the urban and rural counties across the United States. This study acknowledges the limitations as put forth by Winship (1977) that dissimilarity index does not address the concerns with respect to inaccurate comparison between random segregation, the pattern of choice of residence by households without any regard to racial composition, and the actual segregation in the county.

## 3.4 Control Variables

Age and population density serve as control variables for this study. To control for the race and age-specific impacts on mortality, age groups was used. Similarly, the population density for the county was used as a control variable.

The age was divided into two groups to examine if older age groups, defined as 60 and older, can explain high mortality to COVID-19. The cut-off age of 60 years old age was made based on the CDC data that stratified ages 10 years apart, starting from 0-9 years to 80+ years old. Having age as a control variable is important with respect to COVID-19 mortality because studies in the recent past have shown mixed results (see Haynes and Cooper, 2020; Selden and

Terceira A. Berdahl, 2020; Goutte, et al., 2020). The population density across counties in the United States was calculated based on an average number of people per square mile of the land area using the most recent data from the American Community Survey (ACS) (2014-2018) five-year estimate. The positively skewed population density variable was log10-transformed before the analysis.

Race is classified into five groups—Whites, Blacks, Hispanic, Asians, and Others (which include American Indian. Alaska Native, Asian, Multiple/Other, Native Hawaiian/Other Pacific Islander, and Hispanic/Latino). Dummy coded, each race is treated as a variable, and interaction terms were applied using different races and segregation index. The race and segregation index interaction terms act as explanatory variables to examine if the outcome variable of death caused by COVID-19 can be predicted by individuals belonging to particular racial groups living in segregated areas.

#### 4 ANALYSIS

A hierarchical logistic regression (HLR) was conducted to examine the correlation between the race and segregation index with COVID-19 mortality or survival. The multilevel regression shows if residential segregation, a county-level variable, is associated with the individual-level outcome of mortality, adjusting for both county and individual-level confounding factors. This study used HLR with a binomial response variable, death caused by COVID-19. Interaction terms between race and segregation were used to examine if individuals from a particular racial group living in the segregated area are likely to survive or die of COVID-19.

The HLR model with random county effects is also used to satisfy the violation of assumptions of independence that are made in basic regression models that the health outcomes of individuals living in the same area (or county) may be correlated (Hubbard et al., 2010). I used the *lme4* package in R statistical tool for fitting the random county Model

The model has a Bernoulli distribution:

 $Y \sim Bi$ ,  $(1, \pi)$ 

where *Y*=COVID-19 death and  $\pi$  is the probability of death.

A random intercept model:  $Logit(\pi_{ij}) = \beta_{0ij} + \beta_1 X_{1ij} + \beta_2 X_{2ij} + \beta_3 X_{3ij} + \beta_4 X_{4ij} + \beta_5 X_{5ij} + \beta_6 X_{6ij} + \beta_7 X_{7ij}$  (1) where  $\beta_{0j} \sim N(\beta_0, \sigma^2)$ 

where i = 1, ..., nj denotes individuals within counties and  $j = 1, 2, ...N_{ct}$ , where  $N_{ct}$  is the number of counties. Death is an outcome variable (Y), and predictors are Whites (X<sub>1</sub>), Black (X<sub>2</sub>), Hispanic (X<sub>3</sub>), Asian (X<sub>4</sub>), and Others (X<sub>5</sub>), age below 60 years old (X<sub>6</sub>), and age over 60 years old (X<sub>7</sub>). The level-two variables include segregation

(Z<sub>j</sub>), White\*segregation(X<sub>1</sub>\*Z) <sub>j</sub>, Black\*segregation (X<sub>2</sub>\*Z)<sub>j</sub>, Hispanic\*segregation (X<sub>3</sub>\*Z), Asian\*segregation (X<sub>4</sub>\*Z), and Other race--others\*segregation (X<sub>5</sub>\*Z<sub>j</sub>), and population density (X<sub>8</sub>) <sub>j</sub> is represented in the county-level equation mentioned below:

$$Logit (\pi_{ij}) = \beta_{0j} + \beta_1 X_{1ij} + \beta_2 X_{2ij} + \beta_3 X_{3ij} + \beta_4 X_{4ij} + \beta_5 X_{5ij} + \beta_6 X_{6ij} + \beta_7 X_{7ij} + \beta_8 Z_j + \beta_9 X_1 * Z_j + \beta_{10} X_2 * Z_j + \beta_{11} X_3 * Z_j + \beta_{12} X_4 * Z_j + \beta_{13} X_5 * Z_j + \beta_{14} X_{6j} + \beta_{15} X_{7j} + \beta_{16} X_{8j}$$
(2)  
where  $\beta_{0j} \sim N(\beta_0, \sigma^2)$ 

The continuous measure of segregation index for county *j* would be the same for each individual *i* within the same county. The level-1 represents variables with individual-level data such as race and age, and level-2 represents the county-level segregation index and population density and interaction terms between race and segregation.

In the HLR model, the level-2 equations (2) treat the coefficients from level-1 equations as random variables and the values to be predicted from county-level characteristics of residential segregation.

Based on the two equations, three models—Model 1 with individual-level variables, gender, race and age, Model 2 with individuals and county-level variables that included race, age, segregation, income inequality, population density, and Model 3 with, in addition to variables from Model1 and 2, predictors such as race and segregation interaction terms were used to fit the generalized mixed-effects models for fixed and random effect models. The county FIPS code in the dataset was used to have a random effect in model 2 with the 'binomial' family function in the R package, *lme4*.

The two models below show the final model fit using 'gmler' function from *lme4* package in R:

Model 1 <- glmer(death ~ (1|county)+ gender+ black + hispanic + asian + others + over60, family = binomial("logit"), nAGQ=1, data=data1)

Model 2 <- glmer(death ~ (1|county)+ gender+ black + hispanic + asian + others + over60 + segregation + income\_ineq+ popdensity, family = binomial("logit"), nAGQ=1, data = data1)

Model 3 <- glmer(death ~ (1|county)+ gender+ black + hispanic + asian + others + over60 + segregation + income\_ineq+ popdensity + black\_segregation + white\_segregation + hispanic\_segregation + asian\_segregation + others\_segregation, family = binomial("logit"), nAGQ=1, data = data1)

The model *family*=logit describes the logistic type of conditional distribution of the response given the random effects. The hierarchical logistic regression model will have a logit link function to show the relations between the predictors and the response variable. The parameter of interest in the model for the logistic regression is the probability between death (1) and survival (0). The model with the dependent variable *death*, a binary outcome, is predicted by the sum of explanatory variables on the right with (1|county) used to specify the county random effects. The random effects show how the explanatory variables have the same random county effects across the responses. The COVID-19 death as a response variable has a binomial distribution. The predictors used to predict mortality are segregation, race, age, interaction terms of race and segregation, and population density.

## 5 RESULTS

Descriptive statistics for all variables used in the study are shown in Table 1. The largest proportion of confirmed COVID-19 patients were White, representing 46%, Hispanic<sup>2</sup> 33%, Black 10%, Asian 4%, and the rest are identified as 'other races' in the sample. While age 'below 60 years' old represents 79% of the total observations, 21% of the sample are aged over 60 years old. The death proportion for people over the age of 60 years was 0.17, whereas for people below the age of 60 years the proportion was 0.01. The data show Blacks with a slightly higher proportion of death, at 0.054, followed by Whites at 0.051. Asians' proportion of death was 0.045, while Hispanics and Other race were at the lowest at 0.024. The data also shows that males have a higher proportion of COVID-19 deaths than females, with 54.6% of total deaths. Table 1 also shows the White population being the largest sample (46%), representing more than 58.35% of the total deaths, followed by Hispanic, Black, and Asian at 19.45%, 13.48%, and 4.05% respectively. Of the total sample size of 8, 668, 744 confirmed COVID-19 cases, 346, 982 died, making the overall death rate at 4%. Also, the mean segregation, measured by dissimilarity index (D) ranging 0-100, was at 0, after the variable was mean-centered. The standard deviation for the segregation index was 9.91. Similarly, the average population density of the counties represented in the sample population was 1444 per square mile with a standard deviation of 3243. The average index value for income inequality was 4.72 with 0.646 standard deviation.

| Variable | Mean (Std.<br>Dev./Percentage) | Death Proportion | % Death |  |
|----------|--------------------------------|------------------|---------|--|
| Death    | 0.04 (0.196)                   |                  | 4       |  |
| Male     | 47%                            | 0.05             | 56.6    |  |

Table 1Descriptive Statistics for Individual-Level and County-Level Variables

<sup>2</sup> Hispanic/Latino

| Female             | 53%            | 0.03  | 45.4  |
|--------------------|----------------|-------|-------|
| White              | 46%            | 0.051 | 58.35 |
| Black              | 10%            | 0.054 | 13.48 |
| Hispanic           | 33%            | 0.024 | 19.45 |
| Asian              | 4%             | 0.045 | 4.05  |
| Others             | 8%             | 0.024 | 4.66  |
| Over 60 yrs        | 21%            | 0.17  | 87.45 |
| Below 60 yrs       | 79%            | 0.01  | 12.55 |
| Pop. Density       | 1444 (3243)    |       |       |
| Segregation        | 0(9.91)        |       |       |
| White*Segregation  | 0.082 (6.995)  |       |       |
| Black*Segregation  | 0.423 (3.647)  |       |       |
| Asian*Segregation  | -0.018 (1.467) |       |       |
| Others*Segregation | 0.004 (2.762)  |       |       |
| Income Inequality  | 4.72 (0.646)   |       |       |
| <i>N</i> = 8668744 |                |       |       |

Table 2 Correlation Matrix of the Predictors

|                          | Death | White | Black | Hispanic | Asian | Other | Over60 | Below60 | Pop<br>Density | segrega<br>tion | White<br>*seg | Black<br>*seg | Asian<br>*seg | Other*<br>seg | Income<br>ineq |
|--------------------------|-------|-------|-------|----------|-------|-------|--------|---------|----------------|-----------------|---------------|---------------|---------------|---------------|----------------|
| Death                    | 1     |       |       |          |       |       |        |         |                |                 |               |               |               |               |                |
| White                    | 0.05  | 1     |       |          |       |       |        |         |                |                 |               |               |               |               |                |
| Black                    | 0.02  | -0.31 | 1     |          |       |       |        |         |                |                 |               |               |               |               |                |
| Hispanic                 | -0.06 | -0.64 | -0.23 | 1        |       |       |        |         |                |                 |               |               |               |               |                |
| Asian                    | 0.01  | -0.18 | -0.06 | -0.13    | 1     |       |        |         |                |                 |               |               |               |               |                |
| Others                   | -0.02 | -0.27 | -0.1  | -0.2     | -0.06 | 1     |        |         |                |                 |               |               |               |               |                |
| Over60                   | 0.34  | 0.16  | 0     | -0.15    | -0.01 | -0.03 | 1      |         |                |                 |               |               |               |               |                |
| Below60                  | -0.34 | -0.16 | 0     | 0.15     | 0.01  | 0.03  | -1     | 1       |                |                 |               |               |               |               |                |
| Pop Density              | 0.05  | -0.23 | 0.07  | 0.12     | 0.1   | 0.07  | -0.01  | 0.01    | 1              |                 |               |               |               |               |                |
| segregation              | 0.07  | 0.02  | 0.14  | -0.11    | -0.01 | 0     | 0.04   | -0.04   | 0.41           | 1               |               |               |               |               |                |
| White*segregation        | 0.04  | 0.01  | 0     | -0.01    | 0     | 0     | 0.02   | -0.02   | 0.26           | 0.71            | 1             |               |               |               |                |
| <b>Black*segregation</b> | 0.04  | -0.11 | 0.35  | -0.08    | -0.02 | -0.03 | 0.01   | -0.01   | 0.15           | 0.37            | 0             | 1             |               |               |                |
| Asian*segregation        | 0.01  | 0.01  | 0     | 0.01     | -0.06 | 0     | 0      | 0       | 0.06           | 0.15            | 0             | 0             | 1             |               |                |
| Others*segregation       | 0.02  | 0     | 0     | 0        | 0     | 0.01  | 0.01   | -0.01   | 0.13           | 0.28            | 0             | 0             | 0             | 1             |                |
| Income_ineq              | 0.05  | -0.26 | 0.08  | 0.17     | 0.04  | 0.07  | 0      | 0       | 0.46           | 0.35            | 0.21          | 0.18          | 0.05          | 0.11          | 1              |

| Term                 | VIF  | <b>Increased SE</b> | Tolerance |
|----------------------|------|---------------------|-----------|
| Gender               | 1    | 1                   | 1         |
| Black                | 1.32 | 1.15                | 0.76      |
| Hispanic             | 1.16 | 1.07                | 0.87      |
| Asian                | 1.07 | 1.04                | 0.93      |
| Others Race          | 1.13 | 1.06                | 0.89      |
| Over 60 Yrs Old      | 1.02 | 1.01                | 0.98      |
| Segregation          | 1.14 | 1.07                | 0.88      |
| Income Inequality    | 1.06 | 1.03                | 0.95      |
| Pop. Density         | 1.11 | 1.05                | 0.90      |
| Black*Segregation    | 1.31 | 1.15                | 0.76      |
| Hispanic*Segregation | 1.09 | 1.04                | 0.92      |
| Asian*Segregation    | 1.03 | 1.02                | 0.97      |
| Others*Segregation   | 1.12 | 1.06                | 0.89      |

Of the three models, Model 1 and Model 2 are nested within Model 3. Model 1 includes Gender, Black, Hispanic, Asian, Others, age 'Over 60 years' variables. Model two adds Segregation, Income Inequality, and Population Density to the variables included in Model 1. Model 3 adds interaction terms, Black\*Segregation, Hispanic\*Segregation, Asian\*Segregation, and Others\*Segregation variables in addition to the variables in Model 2. White race being the largest group, and age 'below 60 years' were used as reference categories. Model 1 shows that the Black population is 20% more likely than Whites to die of COVID-19, controlling for other variables. Second to Black patients, Asians had a 15% higher chance of dying of the virus than Whites. The likelihood of females was consistent over all three models with 32% less likely than males to die of COVID-19. Hispanics were 16% less likely to die of COVID-19 than Whites.

In Model 2, in addition to demographic variables from Model1, variable of interest, segregation, and others such as income inequality, and control variable population density all

measured at a county-level were added. Model 2 saw some changes on demographic variables. The likelihood of COVID-19 death for Blacks and Hispanics increased by one percent points, while for Asians, the likelihood for mortality decreased by nine percent points. There was a slight one percent point increase in the likelihood of mortality for females in Model 2. There was a statistically significant relationship between residential segregation and COVID-19 mortality. The results showed that as racial residential segregation increased by one unit, the likelihood of dying of COVID-19 increased by 1% on average. No association between income inequality and COVID-19 death was found. The model shows that a one unit increase in population density is associated with a 38% increased probability of dying of COVID-19.

In Model 3 there were slight changes in the demographic variables. Black populations' likelihood of dying from COVID-19 was 20% higher (95% CI: 1.16 - 1.20) than Whites, which is the same as in Model 1 but one percent point less than Model 2. Hispanics were 14% less likely (95% CI: 0.83 - 0.85) to die of COVID-19, compared to whites, and Asians had 7% greater likelihood (95% CI: 1.12 - 1.17) of dying of COVID-19 than Whites, controlling all the other variables. Likewise, for Others race category the odds ratio was 0.68 (95% CI: 0.60 - 0.63), making 32% less likelihood of dying of COVID-19 than Whites, controlling for other variables. The main effect of racial residential segregation on COVID-19 mortality suggests that a one unit increase in segregation is associated with a 1% increase in the probability of mortality for whites, controlling for other variables. The interaction terms show that the effect of segregation on COVID-19 mortality varies across the racial groups although that is true only for Asians. For Blacks, Hispanics, and other racial groups, the confidence intervals suggest that segregation operates similarly as for Whites. The results showed Black living in areas with high non-White-White segregation, the likelihood of dying of COVID-19 was equally likely for that

of Whites (O.R. 1, 95% C.I.: 1:00-1:00). The exact same results were observed for Hispanics as well with no group effects on segregation. Model 3 shows that as segregation increases by one unit, the probability of mortality declines for Asians by 1%.

Same as in Model 1, and 2, income inequality showed no association with COVID-19 mortality. The population density showed similar results as in the previous two models, with areas of high population density, the likelihood of COVID-19 mortality would increase by 38%. Similarly, consistent with a widely established risk factor, this model also showed a strong correlation between people over 60 years old, who were 30.87 times likely (O.R. 30.87, 95% CI: 29.73 – 30.4) to die of COVID-19 death (see Williamson et al., 2020; Woolf et al., 2021).

|             | Dependent Variable<br>COVID-19 Death |      |             |           |         |              |           |         |         |        |
|-------------|--------------------------------------|------|-------------|-----------|---------|--------------|-----------|---------|---------|--------|
|             | Model 1                              |      |             |           | Model 2 |              |           | Model 3 |         |        |
| Predictors  | OR                                   |      | CI          |           | OR      | CI           |           | OR      | CI      |        |
| (Intercent) | 4.592                                | 0.01 | 0.01 0.01   | 4.232     | 0.01    | 0.01 0.01    | -4.277    | 0.01    | 0.01 -  |        |
| (Intercept) | -0.016                               | 0.01 | 0.01 - 0.01 | -0.016    | 0.01    | 0.01 - 0.01  | -0.373    | 0.01    |         |        |
| Condon [E]  | -0.386                               | 0.69 | 0.67 0.60   | -0.386    | 0.60    | 0.67 – 0.69  | -0.386    | 0.60    | 0.67 –  |        |
| Gender [F]  | -0.004                               | 0.68 | 0.07 - 0.09 | -0.004    | 0.09    |              | -0.004    | 0.09    |         |        |
| Dla ala     | 0.181                                | 1.2  | 1           | 1 10 1 21 | 0.181   | 1.21         | 1 10 1 01 | 0.166   | 1.2     | 1.16 - |
| Black       | -0.007                               |      | 1.16 - 1.21 | -0.007    | 1.21    | 1.10-1.21    | -0.008    | 1.2     |         |        |
| TT          | -0.170                               | 0.04 | 0.83 - 0.85 | -0.170    | 0.85    | 0.83 - 0.85  | -0.171    | 0.96    | 0.83 -  |        |
| Hispanic    | -0.007                               | 0.84 |             | -0.006    |         |              | -0.006    | 0.86    |         |        |
| <b>.</b> .  | 0.138                                | 1.15 | 1 10 1 17   | 0.138     | 1.04    | 1 1 2 1 1 7  | 0.134     | 1.07    | 1.12 -  |        |
| Asian       | -0.014                               | 1.15 | 1.12 – 1.17 | -0.011    | 1.06    | 1.12 – 1.17  | -0.011    | 1.07    |         |        |
| 0.1         | -0.463                               | 0.62 | 0.62 0.64   | -0.463    | 0.00    | 0.62 0.64    | -0.487    | 0.60    | 0.60 -  |        |
| Others      | -0.011                               | 0.63 | 0.62 - 0.64 | -0.011    | 0.69    | 0.62 - 0.64  | -0.01     | 0.68    |         |        |
| Over 60     | 3.403                                |      |             | 3.403     |         | 29.73 - 30.4 | 3.403     | 30.87   | 29.73 - |        |

Table 4 The Hierarchical Logistic Regression Models

|                   | -0.006                   | 30.0<br>7 | 29.73 – 30.<br>4 | -0.006 | 30.8<br>6 |               | -0.006           |      |               |
|-------------------|--------------------------|-----------|------------------|--------|-----------|---------------|------------------|------|---------------|
| а <i>.</i> :      |                          |           |                  | 0.010  | 1.01      | 1.00 1.02     | 0.010            | 1.01 | 1.00 - 1.02   |
| Segregation       |                          |           |                  | -0.005 | 1.01      | 1.00 - 1.02   | -0.005           | 1.01 |               |
| T                 |                          |           |                  | -0.13  | 0.00      | 0.16 4.69     | -0.103           | 0.71 | 0.17 - 4.81   |
| Income Ineq       | uanty                    |           |                  | -0.854 | 0.69      | 0.10 - 4.08   | -0.854           | 0.71 |               |
| Pon Dongitu       |                          |           |                  | 0.306  | 1 29      | 1 12 1 62     | 0.306            | 1 29 | 1.13 - 1.63   |
| Fop Density       |                          |           |                  | -0.093 | 1.30      | 1.15 - 1.05   | -0.093           | 1.38 |               |
| Black*Sagra       | action                   |           |                  |        |           |               | 0.002            | 1    | 1.00 - 1.00   |
| Diack Segie       | gation                   |           |                  |        |           |               | -0.001           | 1    |               |
| Hispanic*Se       | gregation                |           |                  |        |           |               | -0.003<br>-0.001 | 1    | 1.00 - 1.00   |
| A ' <b>∀</b> Ω    |                          |           |                  |        |           |               | -0.010           | 0.00 | 0.99 – 0.99   |
| Asian*Segre       | Asian*Segregation        |           |                  |        |           |               | -0.001           | 0.99 |               |
|                   |                          |           |                  |        |           |               | 0.009            |      | 1.00 - 1.01   |
| Others*Segr       | egation                  |           |                  |        |           |               | -0.001           | 1.01 |               |
|                   |                          |           |                  |        |           |               |                  |      |               |
| Ra                | ndom Effect              | s         |                  |        |           |               |                  |      |               |
| $\sigma^2$        |                          |           | 3.29             |        |           | 3.29          |                  |      | 3.29          |
| $	au_{00}$        | 1                        |           | 3.95 county      |        |           | 3.87 county   |                  |      | 3.87 county   |
| IC                | С                        |           | 0.55             |        |           | 0.54          |                  |      | 0.54          |
| Ν                 |                          |           | 1475 county      |        |           | 1475 county   |                  |      | 1475 county   |
| Ob                | oservations              |           | 8668744          |        |           | 8668744       |                  |      | 8668744       |
| Ma<br>Conditional | arginal R <sup>2</sup> / |           | 0.216/0.6        | 44     |           | 0.223 / 0.643 |                  |      | 0.223 / 0.643 |

Table 5 Analysis of Variance Comparison Between Models

|            | np<br>ar | AIC     | BIC     | logLik  | deviance | Chisq  | D<br>f | Pr(>Chisq)   |
|------------|----------|---------|---------|---------|----------|--------|--------|--------------|
|            |          |         |         |         |          |        |        |              |
| Model 1    | 8        | 1819477 | 1819589 | -909731 | 1819461  |        |        |              |
| Model 2    | 11       | 1819460 | 1819613 | -909719 | 1819438  | 23.68  | 3      | 2.91E-05***  |
| Model 3    | 15       | 1819245 | 1819455 | -909607 | 1819215  | 222.82 | 4      | < 2.2e-16*** |
| Signif. co |          |         |         |         |          |        |        |              |

Comparing the three models, Model 1 and 2 are nested with full model, Model 3. Since these models are nested, the lowest value of -2 Log-Likelihood, which is Model 3, is the best fit model at a statistically significant p-value of <0.0001. The best fit. Model 3 was used for the analysis. Table 2 also shows that all of the predictors have the *variance* inflation factor (*VIF*), which detects multicollinearity in regression analysis, values less than 10. Thus, it appears that the model has no multicollinearity problem.



Figure 2 The Predictors and COVID-19 death odds ratio

#### **6 DISCUSSION**

This study examined the relationship between racial residential segregation and COVID-19 death to contribute to the existing literature that suggests that racial residential segregation is an important factor in the prevalence of health inequalities (Williams & Collins, 2001; Schulz et al., 2002). A study of the COVID-19 pandemic's impact on racial minorities living in segregated communities was important to examine if such disparities were actually manifested in communities. Since the only geographic unit of the dataset was a county, the segregation index was used at a county level. This study showed that racial residential segregation is significantly associated with higher COVID-19 deaths. The positive correlation between segregation, a county-level variable assigned to individuals with COVID-19 cases, and death caused by the COVID-19 shows how confinement of any disadvantaged racial group to residentially segregated communities impact the individual as well as population health and wellbeing (Massey & Denton, 1993).

Supporting Hypothesis 1, this study showed that the Black population was most likely to die of COVID-19 disease than Whites and other races. With a 20% more likelihood of dying of COVID-19 compared to Whites, the study found that the Black population faces the highest burden of COVID-19 fatalities when compared to White or other race categories. Also, compared to Whites, this study found that Hispanics had a 14% lower likelihood of dying of COVID-19. This result supports the literature on the so-called "Hispanic Paradox," which suggests that despite their lower socioeconomic status, studies show Hispanic communities have an advantage over various health outcomes compared to other minorities or even Whites (Markides & Coreil, 1986; Crimmins et al., 2007; Markides & Eschbach, 2005). Palloni and Asias, (2004) found that the 'Hispanic paradox', the advantages, was found only among foreignborn Mexicans not Cubans, Puerto Ricans and others. Further study is necessary to be more precise on this paradox, rather than just generalizing the whole community (Palloni & Arias, 2004). Second to Blacks, this study found that another racial minority, Asians were 7% more likely than Whites to die of the virus, controlling for other variables.

Hypothesis 2 states that segregation will reduce the COVID-19 mortality gap between Whites and Blacks. The hypothesis suggests that segregation increases the risk for all races with respect to COVID-19 mortality. For instance, are White populations living in segregated areas more likely than Whites living in less segregated or non-segregated areas to die of COVID-19? In other words, does the death gap remain slimmer between the White and Black population in segregated counties? The results did not support the hypothesis. Compared to Whites, the Black population living in segregated counties have no association with COVID-19 mortality as the odds ratio for interaction terms between Black and segregation is 1 (95% CI: 1.00-1.00). As Model 3, showed that a 1 unit increase in non-White-White segregation is associated with a 1% increase in COVID-19 mortality controlling for all other variables.

Paradoxically, this study showed that people belonging to a particular race such as Black and Asians, and living in a higher level of residential segregation were less likely to die of COVID-19, while the association between segregation and the death from the virus itself was positive. The result suggested that segregation has the same impact on Whites, Blacks, and Hispanics with respect to COVID-19 mortality, hence Hypothesis 3 is not supported. The study also showed that the Hispanic population and segregation had no effect on COVID-19 mortality. For Asians, there was a 1% lower likelihood of dying of COVID-19 when living in segregated as opposed to non-segregated or less segregated areas. Segregation creates conditions that are unfavorable to population health and thus assumed to contribute to health disparities, but this study, which found no association between COVID-19 death and Black and Hispanic races living in segregated counties, suggests that more confounding factors are needed to be considered when studying such relationships (Williams & Collins, 2001).

Measuring the impact of segregation on urban or individual health is complex, especially, from the study design perspective, as it is critical not to ignore various confounding effects that determine one's access to social, economic, and political resources (Schulz et al., 2002). Besides individual accounts of health, factors such as social structural inequalities as seen in residential settlements, education, and employment status have shown how minorities have been underprivileged from improving their life chances (Rogers, 1992; Pearl et al., 2001). There have been multiple studies in the past that show the health effects of racial residential or other forms of segregation but addressing the precise impact has remained challenging (see Kramer & Hogue, 2009; Greer et al., 2014).

Studies have shown disparities in COVID-19 health outcomes among racial minorities also resulted from limited testing of the disease owing to issues such as lack of access to health care and mistrust in the medical system (Andraska et al., 2021; Lieberman-Cribbin et al., 2020; Mody et al., 2021). Besides insufficient testing, underreporting and undetected cases of COVID-19 were also prevalent in many countries, including the United States (Lau et al., 2021; Tatar et al., 2021). For instance, Shen et al. (2021) show that 40% of COVID-19 deaths that occurred prior to the beginning of the federal reporting system in nursing homes in May 2020, were not reported (also see Perniciaro & Weinberger, 2021). Early studies suggested a large percentage of

excess deaths<sup>3</sup> across the U.S. counties, with 87.5% nationally, attributed to COVID-19 since March 2020 (Ackley et al., 2022; Shiels et al., 2021; Rossen et al., 2020; Center for Disease Control and Prevention, 2022).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Defined as the difference between the observed and the expected number of deaths in a given time period

#### 7 CONCLUSION

Studies have shown that the social and physical environments are strong determinants of the health of the urban population (Tonne et al., 2021; Ompad et al., 2008). This study examines if racial residential segregation has any impact on the poor health outcome of residents in light of the COVID-19 pandemic. This study found that racial residential segregation is a predictor of COVID-19 death and that racial minorities, with mixed results, bear the burden of the impact of the coronavirus that has claimed the lives of millions of people across the world.

There is a considerable number of studies examining the association between segregation and various health outcomes at the individual as well as groups levels (See Kramer and Hogue (2009) Adding to the literature, this study found that people living in highly segregated counties were 1% more likely to die of COVID-19 death than people living in less segregated or nonsegregated counties. Among the racial minorities, the Black population faced the greatest burden of COVID-19 death compared to Whites. After Blacks, Asians were more likely to die of COVID-19 than Whites. However, as segregation increased in counties, COVID-19 deaths declined for Asians compared to whites. controlling for other variables such as age, income inequality, and population density. Hispanics were less likely to die from the COVID-19, compared to Whites when age, income inequality, and population density were controlled. This finding supports the existing literature on the narrative of the "Hispanic paradox," which states that despite their minority status and lower SES, Hispanics paradoxically were less likely than Whites to die of COVID-19 at a statistically significant level. Further, a multidimensional approach, as Dannenberg et al. (2003) suggest, which incorporates factors such as environmental, socioeconomic, and health care access and behavioral dimensions is crucial to study population health.

## 7.1 Threats to Validity and Reliability

Examining the association between diseases and race is challenging work. There could be many confounding factors that influence measures across various racial groups. Salgado et al., (2020) emphasize a multidimensional approach, incorporating factors such as environmental, socioeconomic, and health care access and behavioral dimensions deemed crucial to study population health. While a wide range of studies has shown the effects of underlying health conditions on COVID-19, there remains a possibility of misconstrued analysis because of the impacts of confounders on infection and death rates caused by the disease. This is a cross-sectional study thus a one-time measurement may be difficult to draw a causal relationship, which makes threats to internal validity imminent.

Since cities or counties across the states have varying demographic information along with varying rules imposed on lockdowns and social distancing measures, the correlation between variables and COVID-19 mortality may not have an equal effect on other geographical locations.

#### 7.2 Limitations and Significance of the Study

Factors related to human behaviors such as mobility and social activities contribute to the risk of spreading of COVID-19 across counties with varying lockdowns and restrictions. This study does not include analysis pertaining to such human behaviors that may have caused or exacerbated the infections, which resulted in hospitalizations as well as mortality.

The dataset used in this study has a large number of missing data. As discussed above, the original dataset contained 23,723,384 observations, which was reduced to 22,452,247 when

rural counties were removed from the sample. Race/ethnicity one of the primary variables had 7,857,055 missing values. Removing individual non-response observations, the final dataset lost 63.44% of the observations.

Examining the relationship between race and racial residential segregation, and COVID-19 mortality at a county level to make an inference on health disparities also makes the study subject to ecological fallacy. Given the scarcity of individual-level data with geographic units smaller than county-level on the COVID-19 pandemic, using the available county-level data to measure the health inequalities is the best-suited approach. This study also has a modifiable aerial unit problem or MAUP, potentially bound to biases due to the use of spatially aggregated data such as the segregation index. Acevedo-Garcia et al., (2002) argue that although most of the studies examining the relationship between residential segregation and mortality or health outcome have methodological weakness because a study showing such association is 'atheoretical' and the study of the relationship has recently become an area of exploration (Acevedo-Garcia et al., 2002). Ecological studies, using counties or smaller units of analysis such as census tracts, as a strategy to examine the area effects on health, have been used to investigate mortality rates to narrate the variability to characteristics of a particular area (Diez Roux, 2001). From analytical perspectives, social-ecological analyses of health have expanded the traditional biomedical or biopsychological concepts, which incorporate the transdisciplinary models of health over the past century (Stokols, 2017).

It is crucial to identify the phenomena of the spread of the disease and how it has impacted people living in racially segregated neighborhoods. While the COVID-19 pandemic may come to an end or infection and mortality rates may significantly decline eventually, the general trend of higher morbidity and mortality among ethnic minorities will likely remain in the

35

future with persistent disparities in health outcomes, (El-Khatib et al., 2020). As more research studies are coming in on COVID-19, it would be incomplete to argue that one particular factor plays a role in health outcomes. More studies are needed to explain the disparities in COVID-19 infections, hospitalization, and mortality.

## 7.3 Future Research

With the availability of individual-level data, future studies on COVID-19 could reveal more phenomena on health outcomes among minority populations on an individual level. Another interesting future research on the issue would be to measure the economic impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on ethnic communities.

#### REFERENCES

Abouk, R., & Heydari, B. (2021). The Immediate Effect of COVID-19 Policies on Social-Distancing Behavior in the United States. *Public Health Reports*, 0033354920976575. https://doi.org/10.1177/0033354920976575

Abrams, E. M., & Szefler, S. J. (2020). COVID-19 and the impact of social determinants of health. *The Lancet. Respiratory Medicine*, 8(7), 659–661. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2213-</u>2600(20)30234-4

Acevedo-Garcia, D., Lochner, K. A., Osypuk, T. L., & Subramanian, S. V. (2003). Future Directions in Residential Segregation and Health Research: A Multilevel Approach. *American Journal of Public Health*, 93(2), 215–221. <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.93.2.215</u>

Acevedo-Garcia, D., Osypuk, T. L., Werbel, R. E., Meara, E. R., Cutler, D. M., & Berkman, L.

F. (2004). Does Housing Mobility Policy Improve Health? *Housing Policy Debate*, 15(1), 49–98.

### https://doi.org/10.1080/10511482.2004.9521495

Ackley, C. A., Lundberg, D. J., Ma, L., Elo, I. T., Preston, S. H., & Stokes, A. C. (2022).

County-level estimates of excess mortality associated with COVID-19 in the United States. *SSM-Population Health*, 101021.

Adler, N. E., Boyce, W. T., Chesney, M. A., Folkman, S., & Syme, S. L. (1993). Socioeconomic Inequalities in Health: No Easy Solution. JAMA, 269(24), 3140–3145.

https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.1993.03500240084031

Alcendor, D. J. (2020). Racial Disparities-Associated COVID-19 Mortality among Minority Populations in the US. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, *9*(8), 2442.

https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm9082442

Anderson-Carpenter, K. D., & Neal, Z. P. (2022). Racial disparities in COVID-19 impacts in Michigan, USA. Journal of Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities, 9(1), 156–164.

Anderson, J. O., Thundiyil, J. G., & Stolbach, A. (2012). Clearing the Air: A Review of the Effects of Particulate Matter Air Pollution on Human Health. *Journal of Medical Toxicology*, 8(2), 166–175. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13181-011-0203-1</u>

Anderson, L. M., Charles, J. S., Fullilove, M. T., Scrimshaw, S. C., Fielding, J. E., Normand, J., & Services, T. F. on C. P. (2003). Providing affordable family housing and reducing residential segregation by income: A systematic review. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, *24*(3), 47–67.

Andraska, E. A., Alabi, O., Dorsey, C., Erben, Y., Velazquez, G., Franco-Mesa, C., & Sachdev,
U. (2021). Health care disparities during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Seminars in Vascular Surgery*, *34*(3), 82–88. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/j.semvascsurg.2021.08.002</u>

Azar, K. M. J., Shen, Z., Romanelli, R. J., Lockhart, S. H., Smits, K., Robinson, S., Brown, S., & Pressman, A. R. (2020). Disparities In Outcomes Among COVID-19 Patients In A Large Health Care System In California: Study estimates the COVID-19 infection fatality rate at the US county level. *Health Affairs*, *39*(7), 1253–1262. <u>https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2020.00598</u>
Bassett, M. T., Chen, J. T., & Krieger, N. (2020). Variation in racial/ethnic disparities in COVID-19 mortality by age in the United States: A cross-sectional study. *PLOS Medicine*, *17*(10), e1003402. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1003402</u>

Bogel-Burroughs, N., & Robertson, C. (2020, July 17). While Virus Surges, Georgia Governor Sues Atlanta Mayor to Block Mask Rules. *The New York Times*.

https://www.nytimes.com/2020/07/17/us/brian-kemp-georgia-keisha-lance-bottoms-atlanta.html

Braveman, P. (2003). Defining equity in health. *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health*, 57(4), 254–258. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/jech.57.4.254</u>

Braveman, P. (2006). HEALTH DISPARITIES AND HEALTH EQUITY: Concepts and

Measurement. Annual Review of Public Health, 27(1), 167–194.

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.publhealth.27.021405.102103

Braveman, P., Egerter, S., & Williams, D. R. (2011). The Social Determinants of Health:

Coming of Age. Annual Review of Public Health, 32(1), 381–398.

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-publhealth-031210-101218

Braveman, P., & Gruskin, S. (2003). Defining equity in health. *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health*, 57(4), 254–258.

Bureau, U. C. (2020). *Gini Index*. The United States Census Bureau. Retrieved November 23, 2020, from <u>https://www.census.gov/topics/income-poverty/income-</u>

inequality/about/metrics/gini-index.html

Bureau, U. C. (2020). *Small Area Income and Poverty Estimates (SAIPE) Program*. The United States Census Bureau. Retrieved December 11, 2020, from <u>https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/saipe.html</u>

Burström, B., & Tao, W. (2020). Social determinants of health and inequalities in COVID-19. *The European Journal of Public Health*, *30*(4), 617–618. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/eurpub/ckaa095</u> *CensusScope—Segregation: Dissimilarity Indices*. (n.d.). Retrieved November 23, 2020, from <u>https://www.censusscope.org/us/s13/rank\_dissimilarity\_White\_twoplus.html</u>

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2013). *CDC Health Disparities and Inequalities Report—United States, 2013* (Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report Supplement / Vol. 62 / No. 3; p. 189). Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Center for Disease Control and Prevention. (2022, April 20). *Excess Deaths Associated with COVID-19* [Provisional Death Counts for Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19)]. Excess Deaths Associated with COVID-19. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nvss/vsrr/covid19/excess\_deaths.htm</u> Chatters, L. M., Taylor, H. O., & Taylor, R. J. (2020). Older Black Americans During COVID-19: Race and Age Double Jeopardy. *Health Education & Behavior*, *47*(6), 855–860.

## https://doi.org/10.1177/1090198120965513

Chen, Y.-H., Glymour, M., Riley, A., Balmes, J., Duchowny, K., Harrison, R., Matthay, E., & Bibbins-Domingo, K. (2021). Excess mortality associated with the COVID-19 pandemic among Californians 18–65 years of age, by occupational sector and occupation: March through November 2020. *Plos One*, *16*(6), e0252454.

Clark, A., Jit, M., Warren-Gash, C., Guthrie, B., Wang, H. H. X., Mercer, S. W., Sanderson, C., McKee, M., Troeger, C., Ong, K. L., Checchi, F., Perel, P., Joseph, S., Gibbs, H. P., Banerjee, A., Eggo, R. M., Nightingale, E. S., O'Reilly, K., Jombart, T., ... Jarvis, C. I. (2020). Global, regional, and national estimates of the population at increased risk of severe COVID-19 due to underlying health conditions in 2020: A modelling study. *The Lancet Global Health*, 8(8), e1003–e1017. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(20)30264-3</u>

Cooper, R. S. (2001). Social inequality, ethnicity and cardiovascular disease. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, *30 Suppl 1*, S48-52. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/30.suppl\_1.s48</u>

Covid, C., Patel, M. T., Bemis, K., Simmons, C. R., Jespersen, M., Johnson, J. I., Mytty, E.,

Arends, K. D., Henderson, J. J., Mathes, R. W., Weng, C. X., Duchin, J., Lenahan, J., Close, N.,

Bedford, T., Boeckh, M., Chu, H. Y., Englund, J. A., Famulare, M., ... Starita, L. M. (2020). *Evidence for Limited Early Spread of COVID-19 Within the United States, January–February* 2020. 69(22), 5. Deaton, A., & Lubotsky, D. (2003). Mortality, inequality and race in American cities and states. Social Science, 15.

Delen, D., Eryarsoy, E., & Davazdahemami, B. (2020). No Place Like Home: Cross-National Data Analysis of the Efficacy of Social Distancing During the COVID-19 Pandemic. *JMIR Public Health and Surveillance*, 6(2), e19862. <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/19862</u>

Diderichsen, F., Hallqvist, J., & Whitehead, M. (2019). Differential vulnerability and susceptibility: How to make use of recent development in our understanding of mediation and interaction to tackle health inequalities. International Journal of Epidemiology, 48(1), 268–274. Diez Roux, A. V. (2001). Investigating Neighborhood and Area Effects on Health. *American Journal of Public Health*, *91*(11), 1783–1789. <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.91.11.1783</u> Dressler, W. W., Oths, K. S., & Gravlee, C. C. (2005). Race and ethnicity in public health research: Models to explain health disparities. Annu. Rev. Anthropol., 34, 231–252.

Dryden-Peterson, S., Velásquez, G. E., Stopka, T. J., Davey, S., Lockman, S., & Ojikutu, B. O. (2021). Disparities in SARS-CoV-2 testing in massachusetts during the COVID-19 pandemic. *JAMA Network Open*, 4(2), e2037067–e2037067.

Duarte, R., Aguiar, A., Pinto, M., Furtado, I., Tiberi, S., Lönnroth, K., & Migliori, G. B. (2021). Different disease, same challenges: Social determinants of tuberculosis and COVID-19. *Pulmonology*.

Dueñas, M., Campi, M., & Olmos, L. E. (2021). Changes in mobility and socioeconomic conditions during the COVID-19 outbreak. *Humanities and Social Sciences Communications*, 8(1), 101. https://doi.org/10.1057/s41599-021-00775-0

Duncan, O. D., & Duncan, B. (1955). A Methodological Analysis of Segregation Indexes. *American Sociological Review*, 20(2), 210. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2088328</u> Egede, L. E., & Walker, R. J. (2020). Structural Racism, Social Risk Factors, and Covid-19—A Dangerous Convergence for Black Americans. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *383*(12), e77. <u>https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMp2023616</u>

El-Khatib, Z., Jacobs, G. B., Ikomey, G. M., & Neogi, U. (2020). The disproportionate effect of COVID-19 mortality on ethnic minorities: Genetics or health inequalities? *EClinicalMedicine*, *23*, 100430. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eclinm.2020.100430

Escobar, G. J., Adams, A. S., Liu, V. X., Soltesz, L., Chen, Y.-F. I., Parodi, S. M., Ray, G. T., Myers, L. C., Ramaprasad, C. M., Dlott, R., & Lee, C. (2021). Racial Disparities in COVID-19 Testing and Outcomes: Retrospective Cohort Study in an Integrated Health System. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *174*(6), 786–793. <u>https://doi.org/10.7326/M20-6979</u>

Fiscella, K., & Williams, D. R. (2004). Health disparities based on socioeconomic inequities: Implications for urban health care. Academic Medicine, 79(12), 1139–1147.

Geron, M., Cowell, W., Amarasiriwardena, C., Andra, S. S., Carroll, K., Kloog, I., Wright, R. O., & Wright, R. J. (2022). Racial/ethnic and neighborhood disparities in metals exposure during pregnancy in the Northeastern United States. Science of The Total Environment, 820, 153249. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.153249

Glaeser, E., & Vigdor, J. (2012). The end of the segregated century. *Manhattan Institute for Policy Research, January*, 23–26.

Golestaneh, L., Neugarten, J., Fisher, M., Billett, H. H., Gil, M. R., Johns, T., Yunes, M.,

Mokrzycki, M. H., Coco, M., Norris, K. C., Perez, H. R., Scott, S., Kim, R. S., & Bellin, E.

(2020). The association of race and COVID-19 mortality. EClinicalMedicine, 25, 100455.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eclinm.2020.100455

Goutte, S., Péran, T., & Porcher, T. (2020). The role of economic structural factors in determining pandemic mortality rates: Evidence from the COVID-19 outbreak in France. *Research in International Business and Finance*, *54*, 101281.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ribaf.2020.101281

Hart, K. D., Kunitz, S. J., Sell, R. R., & Mukamel, D. B. (1998). Metropolitan governance, residential segregation, and mortality among African Americans. *American Journal of Public Health*, 88(3), 434–438. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.88.3.434

Hayanga, A. J., Zeliadt, S. B., & Backhus, L. M. (2013). Residential Segregation and Lung

Cancer Mortality in the United States. JAMA Surgery, 148(1), 37.

https://doi.org/10.1001/jamasurgery.2013.408

Haynes, N., Cooper, L. A., Albert, M. A., & On behalf of the Association of Black Cardiologists.

(2020). At the Heart of the Matter: Unmasking and Addressing the Toll of COVID-19 on

Diverse Populations. Circulation, 142(2), 105–107.

https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.120.048126

Health Disparities, NHLBI, NIH. (n.d.). Retrieved June 20, 2021, from

https://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health/educational/healthdisp/

Holmes, L., Enwere, M., Williams, J., Ogundele, B., Chavan, P., Piccoli, T., Chinaka, C.,

Comeaux, C., Pelaez, L., Okundaye, O., Stalnaker, L., Kalle, F., Deepika, K., Philipcien, G.,

Poleon, M., Ogungbade, G., Elmi, H., John, V., & Dabney, K. W. (2020). Black-White Risk

Differentials in COVID-19 (SARS-COV2) Transmission, Mortality and Case Fatality in the

United States: Translational Epidemiologic Perspective and Challenges. International Journal of

Environmental Research and Public Health, 17(12), 4322.

https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17124322

Honjo, K. (2004). Social epidemiology: Definition, history, and research examples.

Environmental Health and Preventive Medicine, 9(5), 193–199.

https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02898100

Hubbard, A. E., Ahern, J., Fleischer, N. L., Van der Laan, M., Satariano, S. A., Jewell, N.,

Bruckner, T., & Satariano, W. A. (2010). To GEE or Not to GEE: Comparing Population

Average and Mixed Models for Estimating the Associations Between Neighborhood Risk Factors and Health. *Epidemiology*, *21*(4), 467–474.

Illsley, R. (1990). Comparative review of sources, methodology and knowledge. Social Science & Medicine, 31(3), 229–236. https://doi.org/10.1016/0277-9536(90)90269-X

Islami, F., Guerra, C. E., Minihan, A., Yabroff, K. R., Fedewa, S. A., Sloan, K., Wiedt, T. L.,

Thomson, B., Siegel, R. L., Nargis, N., Winn, R. A., Lacasse, L., Makaroff, L., Daniels, E. C.,

Patel, A. V., Cance, W. G., & Jemal, A. (2022). American Cancer Society's report on the status

of cancer disparities in the United States, 2021. CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians, 72(2), 112-

143. https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.21703

Javed, Z., Maqsood, M. H., Amin, Z., & Nasir, K. (2022). Race and Ethnicity and

Cardiometabolic Risk Profile: Disparities Across Income and Health Insurance in a National

Sample of US Adults. Journal of Public Health Management and Practice, 28, S91.

#### https://doi.org/10.1097/PHH.000000000001441

Jargowsky, P. A. (2020). Racial and economic segregation in the US: Overlapping and reinforcing dimensions. In Handbook of Urban Segregation. Edward Elgar Publishing.Jargowsky, P., Rog, D. J., & Henderson, K. A. (2014). *Suburban poverty and racial segregation*.

Johns Hopkins University. (2022). COVID-19 Map—Johns Hopkins Coronavirus Resource Center. COVID-19 Map - Johns Hopkins Coronavirus Resource Center. Retrieved August 24, 2021, from <u>https://coronavirus.jhu.edu/map.html</u>

Joseph, N. P., Reid, N. J., Som, A., Li, M. D., Hyle, E. P., Dugdale, C. M., Lang, M., Betancourt,

J. R., Deng, F., Mendoza, D. P., Little, B. P., Narayan, A. K., & Flores, E. J. (2020). Racial and

Ethnic Disparities in Disease Severity on Admission Chest Radiographs among Patients

Admitted with Confirmed Coronavirus Disease 2019: A Retrospective Cohort Study. Radiology,

#### 297(3), E303–E312. https://doi.org/10.1148/radiol.2020202602

Karaye, I. M., & Horney, J. A. (2020). The Impact of Social Vulnerability on COVID-19 in the

U.S.: An Analysis of Spatially Varying Relationships. American Journal of Preventive Medicine,

59(3), 317-325. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2020.06.006

Kawachi, I., Subramanian, S. V., & Almeida-Filho, N. (2002). A glossary for health inequalities. Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health, 56(9), 647–652.

Keskinocak, P., Oruc, B. E., Baxter, A., Asplund, J., & Serban, N. (2020). The impact of social distancing on COVID19 spread: State of Georgia case study. *PLOS ONE*, *15*(10), e0239798.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0239798

Kim, S. J., & Bostwick, W. (2020). Social Vulnerability and Racial Inequality in COVID-19 Deaths in Chicago. *Health Education & Behavior*, *47*(4), 509–513.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1090198120929677

Kimm, S. Y. S., Obarzanek, E., Barton, B. A., Aston, C. E., Similo, S. L., Morrison, J. A., Sabry,

Z. I., Schreiber, G. B., & McMahon, R. P. (1996). Race, socioeconomic status, and obesity in 9-

to 10-year-old girls: The NHLBI growth and health study. Annals of Epidemiology, 6(4), 266-

275. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1047-2797(96)00056-7</u>

Kopel, J., Perisetti, A., Roghani, A., Aziz, M., Gajendran, M., & Goyal, H. (2020). Racial and Gender-Based Differences in COVID-19. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 8.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2020.00418

Kramer, M. R., & Hogue, C. R. (2009). Is Segregation Bad for Your Health? Epidemiologic

*Reviews*, 31(1), 178–194. https://doi.org/10.1093/epirev/mxp001

Krishnamoorthy, G., Arsene, C., Jena, N., Mogulla, S. M., Coakley, R., Khine, J., Khosrodad,

N., Klein, A., & Sule, A. A. (2021). Racial disparities in COVID-19 hospitalizations do not lead

to disparities in outcomes. Public Health, 190, 93–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhe.2020.11.021

Krivo, L. J., Peterson, R. D., & Kuhl, D. C. (2009). Segregation, Racial Structure, and

Neighborhood Violent Crime. American Journal of Sociology, 114(6), 1765–1802.

https://doi.org/10.1086/597285

Krysan, M., & Crowder, K. (2017). *Cycle of Segregation: Social Processes and Residential Stratification*. Russell Sage Foundation.

Lau, H., Khosrawipour, T., Kocbach, P., Ichii, H., Bania, J., & Khosrawipour, V. (2021). Evaluating the massive underreporting and undertesting of COVID-19 cases in multiple global epicenters. *Pulmonology*, 27(2), 110–115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pulmoe.2020.05.015</u>

Li, B., Lingsma, H. F., Steyerberg, E. W., & Lesaffre, E. (2011). Logistic random effects regression models: A comparison of statistical packages for binary and ordinal outcomes. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *11*(1), 77. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2288-11-77</u>

Li, G., Liu, Y., Jing, X., Wang, Y., Miao, M., Tao, L., Zhou, Z., Xie, Y., Huang, Y., Lei, J., Gong, G., Jin, P., Hao, Y., Faria, N. R., Clercq, E. D., & Zhang, M. (2020). Mortality risk of COVID-19 in elderly males with comorbidities: A multi-country study. *Aging (Albany NY)*, *13*(1), 27–60. <u>https://doi.org/10.18632/aging.202456</u>

Li, X., Xu, S., Yu, M., Wang, K., Tao, Y., Zhou, Y., Shi, J., Zhou, M., Wu, B., Yang, Z., Zhang, C., Yue, J., Zhang, Z., Renz, H., Liu, X., Xie, J., Xie, M., & Zhao, J. (2020). Risk factors for severity and mortality in adult COVID-19 inpatients in Wuhan. *The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, *146*(1), 110–118. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2020.04.006</u>

Lieberman-Cribbin, W., Tuminello, S., Flores, R. M., & Taioli, E. (2020). Disparities in COVID-

19 Testing and Positivity in New York City. American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 59(3),

#### 326-332. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2020.06.005

Light, M. T., & Thomas, J. T. (2019). Segregation and violence reconsidered: Do Whites benefit from residential segregation? *American Sociological Review*, 84(4), 690–725.

Lobmayer, P., & Wilkinson, R. G. (2002). Inequality, residential segregation by income, and mortality in US cities. Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health, 56(3), 183–187.

Lochner, K., Pamuk, E., Makuc, D., Kennedy, B. P., & Kawachi, I. (2001). State-level income inequality and individual mortality risk: A prospective, multilevel study. American Journal of Public Health, 91(3), 385–391.

Louis-Jean, J., Cenat, K., Njoku, C. V., Angelo, J., & Sanon, D. (2020). Coronavirus (COVID-19) and Racial Disparities: A Perspective Analysis. *Journal of Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities*, 7(6), 1039–1045. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40615-020-00879-4</u>

Lynch, J., Smith, G. D., Harper, S., Hillemeier, M., Ross, N., Kaplan, G. A., & Wolfson, M.

(2004). Is Income Inequality a Determinant of Population Health? Part 1. A Systematic Review.

The Milbank Quarterly, 82(1), 5–99. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0887-378X.2004.00302.x

Mackey, K., Ayers, C. K., Kondo, K. K., Saha, S., Advani, S. M., Young, S., Spencer, H., Rusek,

M., Anderson, J., Veazie, S., Smith, M., & Kansagara, D. (2021a). Racial and Ethnic Disparities

in COVID-19–Related Infections, Hospitalizations, and Deaths: A Systematic Review. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *174*(3), 362–373. <u>https://doi.org/10.7326/M20-6306</u>

Mainous, A. G., Baker, R., Koopman, R. J., Saxena, S., Diaz, V. A., Everett, C. J., & Majeed, A. (2007). Impact of the population at risk of diabetes on projections of diabetes burden in the United States: An epidemic on the way. Diabetologia, 50(5), 934–940.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-006-0528-5

Maly, M. (2011). *Beyond segregation: Multiracial and multiethnic neighborhoods*. Temple University Press.

Markides, K. S., & Coreil, J. (1986). The health of Hispanics in the southwestern United States: An epidemiologic paradox. Public Health Reports, 101(3), 253–265.

Markides, K. S., & Eschbach, K. (2005). Aging, Migration, and Mortality: Current Status of Research on the Hispanic Paradox. The Journals of Gerontology: Series B, 60(Special\_Issue\_2), S68–S75. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/60.Special\_Issue\_2.S68

Marmot, M. (2005). Social determinants of health inequalities. The Lancet, 365(9464), 1099–1104.

Massey, D. S. (2001). Residential segregation and neighborhood conditions in US metropolitan areas. *America Becoming: Racial Trends and Their Consequences*, *1*(1), 391–434.

Massey, D., & Denton, N. A. (1993). *American apartheid: Segregation and the making of the underclass*. Harvard university press.

Massey, D. S., & Denton, N. A. (1988). The Dimensions of Residential Segregation. *Social Forces*, 67(2), 281–315. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2579183</u> Matthew, P., & Brodersen, D. M. (2018). Income inequality and health outcomes in the United States: An empirical analysis. The Social Science Journal, 55(4), 432–442.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soscij.2018.05.001

McCord, C., & Freeman, H. P. (1990). Excess Mortality in Harlem. New England Journal of

Medicine, 322(3), 173-177. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM199001183220306

McLaren, J. (2020). Racial Disparity in COVID-19 Deaths: Seeking Economic Roots with

Census data. (No. w27407; p. w27407). National Bureau of Economic Research.

#### https://doi.org/10.3386/w27407

Mein, S. A. (2020). COVID-19 and health disparities: The reality of "the Great Equalizer."

Journal of General Internal Medicine, 35(8), 2439–2440.

Meyer, S. G. (2000). *As long as they don't move next door: Segregation and racial conflict in American neighborhoods*. Rowman & Littlefield.

Millett, G. A., Jones, A. T., Benkeser, D., Baral, S., Mercer, L., Beyrer, C., Honermann, B.,

Lankiewicz, E., Mena, L., Crowley, J. S., Sherwood, J., & Sullivan, P. S. (2020a). Assessing differential impacts of COVID-19 on black communities. *Annals of Epidemiology*, *47*, 37–44. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annepidem.2020.05.003</u>

Millett, G. A., Jones, A. T., Benkeser, D., Baral, S., Mercer, L., Beyrer, C., Honermann, B., Lankiewicz, E., Mena, L., Crowley, J. S., Sherwood, J., & Sullivan, P. S. (2020b). Assessing differential impacts of COVID-19 on black communities. *Annals of Epidemiology*, *47*, 37–44. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annepidem.2020.05.003</u>

Milne, G. J., & Xie, S. (2020). *The Effectiveness of Social Distancing in Mitigating COVID-19* Spread: A modelling analysis [Preprint]. Infectious Diseases (except HIV/AIDS).

https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.03.20.20040055

Mody, A., Pfeifauf, K., & Geng, E. H. (2021). Using Lorenz curves to measure racial inequities in COVID-19 testing. *JAMA Network Open*, *4*(1), e2032696–e2032696.

Morgenstern, H. (1995). Ecologic Studies in Epidemiology: Concepts, Principles, and Methods. *Annual Review of Public Health*, *16*(1), 61–81.

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.pu.16.050195.000425

National Academies of Sciences, E. (2017). *Communities in Action: Pathways to Health Equity*. <u>https://doi.org/10.17226/24624</u>

Nelson, A. (2002). Unequal treatment: Confronting racial and ethnic disparities in health care. *Journal of the National Medical Association*, *94*(8), 666.

Niemesh, G. T., & Shester, K. L. (2020). Racial residential segregation and black low birth weight, 1970–2010. *Regional Science and Urban Economics*, *83*, 103542.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.regsciurbeco.2020.103542

NIH, National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute. *About Health Disparities*. (2014). NIH, National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute. <u>https://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health/educational/healthdisp/about-health-disparities.htm</u>

Ompad, D. C., Galea, S., & Vlahov, D. (2008). Urban health systems: An overview.
Palloni, A., & Arias, E. (2004). Paradox lost: Explaining the hispanic adult mortality advantage.
Demography, 41(3), 385–415. https://doi.org/10.1353/dem.2004.0024
Pearl, M., Braveman, P., & Abrams, B. (2001). The relationship of neighborhood socioeconomic characteristics to birthweight among 5 ethnic groups in California. American Journal of Public Health, 91(11), 1808–1814.

Perniciaro, S. R., & Weinberger, D. M. (2021). 50 policies, 1 pandemic, 500,000 deaths:

Associations between state-level COVID-19 testing recommendations, tests per capita,

undercounted deaths, vaccination policies, and doses per capita in the United States (p.

2020.09.04.20188326). medRxiv. https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.09.04.20188326

Pickett, K. E., & Wilkinson, R. G. (2015). Income inequality and health: A causal review. Social Science & Medicine, 128, 316–326. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2014.12.031

Poulson, M., Geary, A., Annesi, C., Allee, L., Kenzik, K., Sanchez, S., Tseng, J., & Dechert, T.

(2021a). National Disparities in COVID-19 Outcomes between Black and White Americans.

Journal of the National Medical Association, 113(2), 125–132.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnma.2020.07.009

Poulson, M., Geary, A., Annesi, C., Allee, L., Kenzik, K., Sanchez, S., Tseng, J., & Dechert, T. (2021b). National Disparities in COVID-19 Outcomes between Black and White Americans. *Journal of the National Medical Association*, *113*(2), 125–132.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnma.2020.07.009

Robert Wood Johnson Foundation. (2021). *Residential segregation—Non-White/White\**. County Health Rankings & Roadmaps. <u>https://www.countyhealthrankings.org/explore-health-</u> <u>rankings/measures-data-sources/county-health-rankings-model/health-factors/social-and-</u> <u>economic-factors/family-social-support/residential-segregation-non-WhiteWhite</u>

Rogers, R. G. (1992). Living and Dying in the U.S.A.: Sociodemographic Determinants of Death Among Blacks and Whites. Demography, 29(2), 287–303. https://doi.org/10.2307/2061732 Rogers, T. N., Rogers, C. R., VanSant-Webb, E., Gu, L. Y., Yan, B., & Qeadan, F. (2020).

Racial Disparities in COVID-19 Mortality Among Essential Workers in the United States. World

Medical & Health Policy, 12(3), 311–327. https://doi.org/10.1002/wmh3.358

Rollston, R., & Galea, S. (2020). COVID-19 and the Social Determinants of Health. *American Journal of Health Promotion*, *34*(6), 687–689. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0890117120930536b</u>
Rossen, L. M., Branum, A. M., Ahmad, F. B., Sutton, P., & Anderson, R. N. (2020). Excess
Deaths Associated with COVID-19, by Age and Race and Ethnicity—United States, January 26–
October 3, 2020. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, *69*(42), 1522–1527.

## https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6942e2

Rothstein, R. (2015). The making of Ferguson. J. Affordable Hous. & Cmty. Dev. L., 24, 165. Rushovich, T., Boulicault, M., Chen, J. T., Danielsen, A. C., Tarrant, A., Richardson, S. S., & Shattuck-Heidorn, H. (2021). Sex disparities in COVID-19 mortality vary across US racial groups. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, *36*(6), 1696–1701.

Schwartz, S. (1994). The fallacy of the ecological fallacy: The potential misuse of a concept and the consequences. *American Journal of Public Health*, 84(5), 819–824.

### https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.84.5.819

Selden, T. M., & Berdahl, T. A. (2020). COVID-19 And Racial/Ethnic Disparities In Health Risk, Employment, And Household Composition: Study examines potential explanations for racial-ethnic disparities in COVID-19 hospitalizations and mortality. *Health Affairs*, *39*(9),

1624-1632. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2020.00897

Shen, K., Loomer, L., Abrams, H., Grabowski, D. C., & Gandhi, A. (2021). Estimates of COVID-19 cases and deaths among nursing home residents not reported in federal data. *JAMA Network Open*, *4*(9), e2122885–e2122885.

Shiels, M. S., Haque, A. T., Haozous, E. A., Albert, P. S., Almeida, J. S., García-Closas, M., Nápoles, A. M., Pérez-Stable, E. J., Freedman, N. D., & Berrington de González, A. (2021).

Racial and ethnic disparities in excess deaths during the COVID-19 pandemic, March to December 2020. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *174*(12), 1693–1699.

Snowden, L. R., & Graaf, G. (2021). COVID-19, Social Determinants Past, Present, and Future, and African Americans' Health. *Journal of Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities*, 8(1), 12–20. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40615-020-00923-3

*Social determinants of health and inequalities in COVID-19*. (n.d.). Retrieved August 24, 2021, from <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7454505/</u>

Stokols, D. (2017). Social Ecology in the Digital Age: Solving Complex Problems in a

Globalized World. Elsevier Science & Technology.

http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/gsu/detail.action?docID=5088357

Subramanian, S. V., Acevedo-Garcia, D., & Osypuk, T. L. (2005). Racial residential segregation and geographic heterogeneity in black/White disparity in poor self-rated health in the US: A multilevel statistical analysis. *Social Science & Medicine*, *60*(8), 1667–1679.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2004.08.040

Schulz, A. J., Williams, D. R., Israel, B. A., & Lempert, L. B. (2002). Racial and Spatial
Relations as Fundamental Determinants of Health in Detroit. The Milbank Quarterly, 80(4),
677–707. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-0009.00028

Tai, D. B. G., Shah, A., Doubeni, C. A., Sia, I. G., & Wieland, M. L. (2021). The

Disproportionate Impact of COVID-19 on Racial and Ethnic Minorities in the United States. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, 72(4), 703–706. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciaa815</u>

Tatar, M., Habibdoust, A., & Wilson, F. A. (2021). Analysis of Excess Deaths During the COVID-19 Pandemic in the State of Florida. *American Journal of Public Health*, *111*(4), 704–707. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2020.306130

Thakur, N., Lovinsky-Desir, S., Bime, C., Wisnivesky, J. P., & Celedón, J. C. (2020). The Structural and Social Determinants of the Racial/Ethnic Disparities in the U.S. COVID-19 Pandemic. What's Our Role? *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 202(7), 943–949. <u>https://doi.org/10.1164/rccm.202005-1523PP</u>

Tonne, C., Adair, L., Adlakha, D., Anguelovski, I., Belesova, K., Berger, M., Brelsford, C.,

Dadvand, P., Dimitrova, A., Giles-Corti, B., Heinz, A., Mehran, N., Nieuwenhuijsen, M.,

Pelletier, F., Ranzani, O., Rodenstein, M., Rybski, D., Samavati, S., Satterthwaite, D., ... Adli,

M. (2021). Defining pathways to healthy sustainable urban development. Environment

International, 146, 106236. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2020.106236

Tracy Hadden Loh, Coes, C., & Buthe, B. (2020). *The Great Real Estate Reset Separate and unequal: Persistent residential segregation is sustaining racial and economic injustice in the* 

*U.S.* Brookings. <u>https://www.brookings.edu/essay/trend-1-separate-and-unequal-neighborhoods-</u> are-sustaining-racial-and-economic-injustice-in-the-us/

Watson, M. F., Bacigalupe, G., Daneshpour, M., Han, W.-J., & Parra-Cardona, R. N. (2020). COVID-19 Interconnectedness: Health Inequity, the Climate Crisis, and Collective Trauma. *FAMILY PROCESS*, *59*, 15.

Whitehead, M., & Dahlgren, G. (2006). Concepts and principles for tackling social inequities in health: Levelling up Part 1. *World Health Organization: Studies on Social and Economic Determinants of Population Health*, *2*, 460–474.

Wiemers, E. E., Abrahams, S., AlFakhri, M., Hotz, V. J., Schoeni, R. F., & Seltzer, J. A. (2020).
Disparities in Vulnerability to Severe Complications from COVID-19 in the United States. *MedRxiv*, 2020.05.28.20115899. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.05.28.20115899</u>

Williams, D. R., & Collins, C. (2001). Racial residential segregation: A fundamental cause of racial disparities in health. *Public Health Reports*, *116*(5), 404–416.

Williams, D. R., & Cooper, L. A. (2020). COVID-19 and Health Equity—A New Kind of "Herd Immunity." *JAMA*, *323*(24), 2478. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2020.8051

Williamson, E. J., Walker, A. J., Bhaskaran, K., Bacon, S., Bates, C., Morton, C. E., Curtis, H. J.,

Mehrkar, A., Evans, D., Inglesby, P., Cockburn, J., McDonald, H. I., MacKenna, B., Tomlinson,

L., Douglas, I. J., Rentsch, C. T., Mathur, R., Wong, A. Y. S., Grieve, R., ... Goldacre, B.

(2020). Factors associated with COVID-19-related death using OpenSAFELY. Nature,

584(7821), 430–436. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-020-2521-4

Winship, C. (1977). A revaluation of indexes of residential segregation. *Social Forces*, 55(4), 1058–1066.

Yamoah, K., Lee, K. M., Awasthi, S., Alba, P. R., Perez, C., Anglin-Foote, T. R., Robison, B.,

Gao, A., DuVall, S. L., Katsoulakis, E., Wong, Y.-N., Markt, S. C., Rose, B. S., Burri, R., Wang,

C., Aboiralor, O., Fink, A. K., Nickols, N. G., Lynch, J. A., & Garraway, I. P. (2022). Racial and

Ethnic Disparities in Prostate Cancer Outcomes in the Veterans Affairs Health Care System.

JAMA Network Open, 5(1), e2144027. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.44027

Yancy, C. W. (2020b). COVID-19 and African Americans. JAMA, 323(19), 1891.

#### https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2020.6548

Yang, T.-C., Emily Choi, S., & Sun, F. (2020). COVID-19 cases in US counties: Roles of racial/ethnic density and residential segregation. *Ethnicity & Health*, 1–11.

### https://doi.org/10.1080/13557858.2020.1830036

Yehia, B. R., Winegar, A., Fogel, R., Fakih, M., Ottenbacher, A., Jesser, C., Bufalino, A.,

Huang, R.-H., & Cacchione, J. (2020). Association of Race With Mortality Among Patients

Hospitalized With Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) at 92 US Hospitals. *JAMA Network Open*, *3*(8), e2018039. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.18039</u>

Zavala, V. A., Bracci, P. M., Carethers, J. M., Carvajal-Carmona, L., Coggins, N. B., Cruz-

Correa, M. R., Davis, M., de Smith, A. J., Dutil, J., Figueiredo, J. C., Fox, R., Graves, K. D.,

Gomez, S. L., Llera, A., Neuhausen, S. L., Newman, L., Nguyen, T., Palmer, J. R., Palmer, N.

R., ... Fejerman, L. (2021). Cancer health disparities in racial/ethnic minorities in the United

States. British Journal of Cancer, 124(2), 315-332. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41416-020-01038-6